


































































































































With the banishment of the Raja of Lombok and the death of most of his family the 
kingdom of Selaparang ceased to exist. Originally the Dutch had only wanted to install a 
new Raja, but instead found themselves in direct control. Karangasem was also part of the 
kingdom of Selaparang, but the Dutch decided to persevere with the ruling Raja, perhaps 
because he had quickly submitted to the Dutch when they landed in Lombok and had 
taken no further part in the fighting. On 10 June 1896 he was sworn in as "Stedehouder" 
(Viceroy) of Karangasem. He then become a salaried official of the Netherlands Indies 
government and was left with few independent powers.258 Thus after the end of the 
Lombok war Buleleng, Jembrana and Lombok were all under the direct rule of Dutch 
administrators. In Karangasem the situation was slightly different as the Raja was still on 
his.throne, but he had little scope for independent action. As Stedehouder the Raja was in 
fact a representative of the Netherlands Indies government. The Dutch were now in a 
better position than ever before to take control of all of Bali, but they resisted the 
temptation and bided their time while they watched developments in the independent 
kingdoms. 

******************************* 

The Dewa Agung of Klungkung must have observed the outcome of the Lombok war 
with mixed emotions. He was probably pleased that the Raja of Lombok (Raja 
Selaparang) had been deposed by the Dutch. Lombok had be.en Klungkung's enemy 
throughout the nineteenth century and the Raja of Lombok had consistently refused to 
accept the Dewa Agung's claim to be the Susuhunan of Bali and Lombok. Unlike the 
other Rajas, Lombok would not acknowledge the superiority of the Dewa Agung in any 
capacity. The annexation ofKarangasem by Lombok in 1849 must have also been a blow 
to Klungkung as Karangasem had been a strong ally. After 1849, however, Karangasem 
became part of the kingdom of Selaparang. The Dewa Agung could expect no more help 
from Karangasem. The Lombok war removed the threat of Raja Selaparang to the Dewa 
Agung's plans to unite Bali under his leadership, but he could not expect any new support 
from Lombok or Karangasem because they were both absorbed into the Netherlands 
Indies. Indeed, the Netherlands Indies government was the greatest threat to the Dewa 
Agung's plans because it was clear that the government preserved the role of supreme 
power in Lombok and Bali for its~lf; a position that was made clear in the 1840's when 
Huskus Koopman succeeded in getting all the Rajas of Bali and Lombok to acknowledge 
the sovereignty of the Netherlands Indies government over their kingdoms. Since that 
time the Dutch had played an increasingly important role in Balinese politics. The ability 
of the Dewa Agung to play a similar role had been proportionally decreased. With the 
ending of conflict on Lombok the power of the Dutch was increased even further. 

In such a situation the remaining independent Rajas had a great incentive to appease the 
Dutch and meekly accept their demands as they ran the very real risk that their kingdoms 
too could be absorbed into the Netherlands Indies. However, it would appear that the 
Rajas, and the Dewa Agung in particular, saw the matter quite differently. They 
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responded by increasing their efforts to gain power in southern Bali. In this respect the 
Dutch played an important role by their very inaction. Thus when the Dutch failed to 
intervene in the fighting of 1891 that resulted in the destruction and partitioning of the 
once powerful kingdom of Mengwi they gave the Rajas implicit approval for their 
actions. In 1885 the Dutch had refused a request from the Raja of Gianyar for his 
kingdom to be absorbed into the Netherlands Indies, but the Dutch had refused. Again, 
the Dutch seemed to be telling the other Rajas that the Netherlands Indies government did 
not object to the territorial attacks they had been making on Gianyar. Under these 
circumstances it is perhaps understandable if the Rajas felt no need to hide their 
ambitions. On the other hand, the Rajas may have felt that the ever increasing power and 
influence of the Netherlands Indies government made it imperative for them to act 
immediately to increase their own power and prestige before the Dutch blocked all 
opportunities for doing so. Whatever the true motivations of the actors may have been the 
results of their actions were clear. The south Balinese kingdoms were weak and in 
disarray after years of constant warfare. If the Dutch should choose to begin hostilities 
against them they would be in a very weak position. 

In the period prior to the Lombok war the Dutch had not been overly concerned about 
exercising their authority as the sovereign power in Bali and Lombok as outlined in their 
treaties with the Balinese Rajas. They had consistently endeavoured to make the Rajas 
abide by the terms of their respective treaties, but had otherwise generally avoided too 
much interference in the internal affairs of the independent kingdoms. They had also 
attempted to mediate in various disputes between the kingdoms, but the final outcomes of 
those disputes were invariably determined by the Balinese themselves. By the late 
nineteenth century the Dutch exercised a real physical authority over much of the 
Balinese world and seemed prepared to take a much more active role in the politics of the 
independent states. An example of this changed approach can be found in the manner 
with which the Dutch dealt with the problem of the beleaguered kingdom of Gianyar. In 
1885 the Dutch had refused a request from the Raja of Gianyar to takeover his kingdom, 
but in 1900 when the new Raja made a similar approach the Dutch agreed. 

As outlined above, Gianyar's territorial integrity had been threatened in the 1880's by its 
neighbours Bangli, Mengwi and Klungkung. In a desperate attempt to avoid the 
destruction of his kingdom the Raja of Gianyar appealed to the Dewa Agung for his 
protection and this was provided for in 1883 by merging the kingdom of Gianyar into the 
kingdom of Klungkung. This move did not stop the attacks on Gianyar's territory, 
however, so in 1885 the Raja of Gianyar took the unprecedented step of offering his 
kingdom to the Dutch. The Dutch could not accept the offer and it was only in 1893 that 
Gianyar was again strong enough to ward off the threats of its neighbours and to maintain 
control over the districts within its borders. Conflict in Gianyar continued, however, and 
Bangli and Klungkung persisted in pressing their claims over the territory of Gianyar. In 
June 1898 the situation became more serious when Gianyar's former ally, Badung, 
attacked the Ubud district. Now under attack from Bangli in the north, Badung in the 
south and Klungkung in the east Gianyar sought assistance from its other old ally, 
Karangasem. The Raja of Karangasem was apparently willing to help Gianyar, but as 
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Karangasem had become part of the Netherlands Indies after the Lombok war the matter 
had to first be referred to the Resident of Bali in Singaraja. As a result Resident Liefrinck 
visited all the kingdoms concerned. In Karangasem, Liefrinck informed the Raja that he 
had no right to get involved in the affair, while in Bangli, Badung and Klungkung he 
attempted to persuade the Rajas to desist in their efforts to gain control of parts of 
Gianyar.259 The attacks continued, however, and the Raja of Gianyar in December 1899 
once more took the desperate measure of inviting the Dutch to take over his kingdom. 
The Raja used the example of Karangasem as a model and requested to become a 
Stedehouder like the Raja of Karangasem. Receiving no reply to his request the Raja had 
obviously become increasingly desparate as he repeated his request three times in January 
190Q and again in February. In the meantime Resident Liefrinck had written to the 
Governor General to inform him of the state of affairs in Gianyar and, while he detailed 
the great suffering the constant attacks had brought to the people of Gianyar, he also 
warned that if the Raja's request was met it would bring enmity from Bangli and 
Klungkung. The Governor General was apparently willing to bear this consequence as he 
advised Liefrinck that as long as the Raja and other leaders of Gianyar understood the full 
implications of such a move then the transfer of power could go ahead.260 On 8 March 
1900 Raja Gianyar was provisionally installed as Stedehouder and in November 1900 the 
appointment was made official and Gianyar then became part of the Netherlands Indies.261 

As was expected the independent Rajas, especially the Dewa Agung of Klungkung, 
opposed this initiative, but they were unwilling to push the issue too far as Liefrinck had 
informed them that an attack on Gianyar now constituted an attack on the Dutch. The 
Dutch then set about clarifying the boundaries of Gianyar' s territory and put to an end the 
age old struggle for control of the border districts.262 

As Bali entered the twentieth century the Dutch were in control of four of the nine 
kingdoms that had existed at the beginning of the nineteenth century, i.e., Buleleng, 
Jembrana, Karangasem and Gianyar. Mengwi had been destroyed and partitioned by the 
remaining independent kingdoms, i.e., Badung, Tabanan, Bangli and Klungkung. In the 
years of warfare that had raged in Bali throughout the nineteenth century the ordinary 
people suffered the most. It was the peasant farmers of Bali who provided the manpower 
to fight the wars of their Rajas. While they were fighting they could not till the soil and 
food shortages were common. Much valuable farming land was also destroyed during the 
fighting; for example, in Gianyar up to 6,000 hectares of paddy fields were rendered 
unworkable during the war-filled years immediately prior to the Dutch takeover.263 The 
numerous wars between the different kingdoms were often followed by crop failures and 
outbreaks of disease, such as cholera, which often carried off more victims than the 
fighting itself. Dutch colonial records show that tens of thousands of people died in south 
Bali in the second half of the nineteenth century from the combined effects of epidemics, 
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crop failures, mice plagues and other natural disasters.264 Combined with the devastating 
effects of almost constant warfare it is no surprize that by the beginning of the twentieth 
century the independent kingdoms of Bali were in a very weak state indeed. Under these 
circumstances the Rajas found it difficult to resist the demands for reforms in their 
kingdoms made by the Dutch. These demands largely related to the conditions set down 
in the treaties that had been imposed on the Balinese Rajas by the Dutch in the middle of 
the nineteenth century, but the Dutch also demanded reforms in other areas. Thus the 
"independent" Rajas found that they had to conform to Dutch regulations concerning 
matters such as slavery, opium trading and "mesatiye" 265(suttee, or widow burning). The 
effect of the Dutch regulations on such activities (which often equated with a prohibition 
on activities which had previously been commonplace) was to make the independent 
ki~gdoms little more than colonial territories of the Dutch.266 The Rajas, howeyer, 
stubbornly adhered to their independence and often broke the Dutch regulations; an 
action which carried with it the risk of more direct Dutch interference. Another problem 
for the Rajas was that the increase in Balinese territory controlled directly by the Dutch 
meant that previously fluid boundaries that existed between the kingdoms became solid 
under Dutch control. This of course made it very difficult for the Rajas to increase the 
size of the territory under their authority. In all these ways the Dutch had limited the 
exercise of real power by the Rajas of south Bali. By the beginning of the twentieth 
century the Dutch were in such a strong position in Bali, and indeed the rest of Indonesia, 
that it only seemed a matter of time before the whole island would officially become a 
part of the Netherlands Indies. 

CHAPTER 5 THE END OF THE WORLD. 

Under the VOC in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries the Dutch in Indonesia were 
primarily concerned with trade. Territorial expansion was officially frowned upon as an 
unnecessary and expensive measure. In reality the Dutch found that the size of the 
territory under their control increased as they endeavoured to establish a trade monopoly 
in the region. Toward the middle of the nineteenth century the profits from the 
Cultivation System on Java gave the Dutch the means to extend their control in the "outer 
islands", but as the profits of the Cultivation System were largely ploughed back into the 
domestic Dutch economy the desire to limit expenses in regard to the outer islands 

264 Nordholt "The quest for life." pp207-208 
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continued. At the same time the Dutch wished to establish a clear "sphere of influence" in 
Indonesia in order to preclude any other European power from gaining a foothold in the 
region. In particular the Dutch feared the establishment of British settlements in 
Indonesia and it was largely because of the activities of a British trader (George King) in 
Lombok and Bali in the 1830's and 1840's that the Dutch began to give more attention to 
these two islands. Initially the Dutch concluded treaties with the Lombok and Balinese 
Rajas that recognized Dutch sovereignty over their kingdoms and would prevent any 
other European nation from gaining influence in the islands. Disagreement over the 
meaning of the contracts eventually led to conflict on Bali and the Dutch took direct 
control of the northern Balinese kingdom of Buleleng and its vassal, Jembrana, in 1849. 
T~e official Dutch policy was still opposed to further territorial expansion, however, and 
no direct moves were made to increase Dutch control over the remaining independent 
kingdoms. 

As the nineteenth century drew on the presence of the Dutch in north Bali made it 
difficult for them to avoid being drawn into the many internal conflicts of the region. 
Despite the official policy of non-interference in these internal disputes Dutch officials on 
the ground often argued that it was essential for Dutch interests to have more control over 
the running of the independent kingdoms. By the late nineteenth century and early 
twentieth century a significant change had taken place and the Dutch began a vigorous 
campaign to bring all the remaining independent regions of Indonesia firmly under their 
control. In Aceh, in north Sumatra, the Dutch began what turned out to be a very long 
effort to subdue that region in 1873. The war dragged on and on and it was not until about 
1903 that some sort of stability was brought to the region, although resistance to Dutch 
rule never really subsided.267 Fear of a "second Aceh" greatly inhibited the desire of some 
Dutch officials to extend Dutch control into other areas of the archipelago. In 1894, 
however, the Dutch successfully took control of the island of Lombok and the tide 
seemed to be swinging in favour of the Dutch in the Aceh War. Under these 
circumstances it was only a matter of time before other hitherto independent regions of 
Indonesia came under direct Dutch control. Thus, in the first decade of the twentieth 
century a large number of other regions fell to the Dutch, including Jambi and Kerinci in 
Sumatra, Seram in Maluku, Bone in south Sulawesi, Banjermasin in southeast 
Kalimantan (Borneo), and Flores and Bali in the Lesser Sundas.268 

The expansion of Dutch control in this period is related to many factors. In most areas it 
was local Dutch officials who provided the impetus. In response to local disputes Dutch 
officials on the ground had often recommended an extension of Dutch authority as a 
solution. In line with official policy, however, the Dutch decision makers in Batavia and 

267 Ibid. p138 
268 Locher-Scholten, E "Dutch Expansion in the Indonesian Archipelago Around 1900 and the Imperialism 
Debate." p95 
Flores became Dutch under the Treaty of Lisbon 1853/54 and the nominal Portuguese ownership of the 
island came to an end. The Dutch, however, still needed to send expeditions to Flores to make their rule 
over the whole island a reality. See 400 Jaren Missie in Nederlandsh-Indie. 's-Gravenhage 1934 (Thanks 
to Dr.RAF Paul Webb for this information.) 

70 



the Hague had been reticent in approving further Dutch control. By the late nineteenth 
century this attitude had changed and both Batavia and the Hague were more sympathetic 
to the suggestions of local officials. By this time the majority of the Indonesian 
archipelago was under nominal Dutch control so it was just a matter of making that 
control a reality. Improvements in transport and communications and the development of 
a more modem and professional army made this a much easier task than it had previously 
been. Technological advances also gave the Netherlands Indies army an advantage over 
their indigenous adversaries that had previously been lacking.269 For example, in 1848-
1849 the Dutch had been hindered in their efforts to take the fortress of Jagaraga in north 
Bali as its location four kilometres from the coast was too far for their ships' cannons to 
reach. In 1906 when the Dutch launched an attack on Denpasar the Dutch ships' cannons 
~re capable of reaching targets up to sixteen kilometres distant;270 thus the Dutch ships 
anchored at Sanur could effortlessly bombard Denpasar, only seven kilometres away. 

The growth of a plantation economy and the search for mineral wealth had also played a 
role in stimulating Dutch expansion, such as occurred on Lombok. One of the greatest 
impetuses for further Dutch expansion, however, was not economical, but political. The 
great economic benefit brought to the Netherlands by the possession of a colony in the 
Indies had made the majority of Dutch very proud. Holland had been transformed from a 
"European 'dwarf" to a "colonial 'giant."'271 Failure on the part of the various 
independent potentates, such as the Balinese Rajas, to respect th~ demands made on them 
by their suzerain, the Dutch, were often seen as "humiliating" attacks on Dutch pride. The 
late nineteenth century and early twentieth century development of European imperialism 
also played its role in encouraging the Dutch to formalize their control over the Indies, so 
as to exclude any possible rival powers. Dutch imperialism in Indonesia, however, was 
linked also to its new policy for governing the Indies which was officially endorsed in 
1901 and known as the "Ethical Policy."272 

The Ethical Policy was driven by a desire on the part of some Dutch liberals to pay back 
what they called a "debt of honour." As the Netherlands had reaped great benefits from 
its possessions in the Indies it was argued that the Dutch had an obligation to bring 
"peace, order and modernity" to the archipelago.273 In the eyes of the public in the 
Netherlands military expansion f9r "ethical" considerations was fully justifiable.274 Under 
the banner of the high ideals of the Ethical Policy the Dutch launched themselves into the 
final and bloodiest episode of their drawn out conquest of Bali. In 1904 General J. B. van 
Heutz, a hero of the Aceh War, was made Governor General of the Netherlands Indies 
and under his leadership the Netherlands Indies was finally united under Dutch control. 
Van Heutz was a strong proponent of the notion of a Pax Neerlandica, and the Ethical 
Policy provided the perfect framework to make it a reality. The remaining independent 
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Rajas in Bali must have been seen as a hindrance and an anomaly in implementing the 
new policy. Van Heutz wanted to bring Bali "into the 'modem' era quickly and 
forcibly",275 but he could not simply break the 1849 treaties that guaranteed the 
independence of the Balinese Rajas. The Dutch needed an excuse.276 

********************************** 

In 1903 the Raja of Tabanan died and his wives prepared for "mesatiye." (Balinese for 
suttee, or widow burning.) The Dutch were opposed to mesatiye, but as a part of Balinese 
adat they had no real right to interfere. Nevertheless, two Dutch warships arrived off the 
Tabanan coast to intimidate the Balinese and prevent the ceremony going ahead. Conflict 
was avoided on that occasion by a compromise deal whereby the Dutch allowed the 
ceremony to go ahead as planned, but straight afterwards the new Raja signed an 
agreement outlawing the practice in his kingdom. In 1904 and 1905 the remaining Rajas 
signed similar agreements.277 The effective outlawing of mesatiye in Bali shows what 
power the Dutch actually had in the independent kingdoms even without formal control. 
The voices calling for direct Dutch rule, however, still grew louder by the day. On 27 
May 1904 the opportunity that many Dutch had been waiting for finally arrived when a 
Chinese owned vessel sailing under the Dutch flag, the Sri Kumala, was stranded off the 
coast of Sanur in the kingdom of Badung. 278 

The Sri Kumala was carrying kerosene, sugar and other goods to trade on Bali. According 
to the vessel's owner it was also carrying a great sum of money. Once the vessel was 
stranded the ship's captain sought and received assistance from the local populace to 
remove and guard the ship's cargo. This was all in line with the provisions of the 1849 
treaties which banned the old practice of Tawan Karang and obliged the Rajas to provide 
assistance to any stranded or shipwrecked vessel. The ship's owner, however, later 
complained to the Dutch Resident in Singaraja that some of the goods and all of the 
money had been stolen. As a result Controller H.J. E. F. Schwartz was sent to Badung to 
investigate. Schwartz was able to report that there had been no incidence of Tawan 
Karang as any stealing of goods must have occurred after the ship's cargo had been safely 
removed from the stranded ship. At the very most the Raja was guilty of not providing 
enough security.279 The very existence of the missing money was called into doubt, 
however, and there was a general feeling that the ship's owner had invented the whole 
story for his own profit.280 Nevertheless, the Dutch chose to bypass the normal legal 
process whereby the ship's owner would have applied for compensation at the Badung 
"Kerta", or traditional court of law. Instead the Dutch demanded that the Raja of Badung 
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compensate the ship's owner for his "lost" money. It is more than likely that the Dutch 
made this decision knowing that it would almost definitely lead to conflict with 
Badung.281 

When Badung refused to pay the compensation the Dutch informed the Raja that the 
Badung coastline would be blockaded to prevent any trade goods entering or leaving the 
kingdom. Even local fishermen were barred from putting to sea. As well as paying for the 
"stolen" money the Raja would also be obliged to pay the cost of the blockade.282 The 
blockade proved unsuccessful, however, as goods continued to move over Badung's land 
borders, especially over the border of neighbouring Tabanan, Badung's old ally. By early 
1905 the matter had still not been settled when the Raja wrote to Resident Eschbach once 
more pleading his innocence of any wrongdoing. On top of this he demanded that the 
Dutch pay him compensation for the economic difficulties caused by the Dutch 
blockade. 283 

It seems clear that the issue at hand was not money as a number of sources within Badung 
had offered to pay the demanded compensation, including a group of Bugis and Chinese 
traders whose business was being adversely effected by the blockade. The Raja rejected 
all such offers and threatened to punish any of his subjects who paid the Dutch. Thus it 
would appear that the Raja was making a stand on principle and was merely seeking 
justice.284 For Resident Eschbach the ineffectiveness of the blockade and the 
"insubordination" of the Raja was enough for him to recommend the sending of a 
military expedition to Badung. The time was not right, however, as military operations 
against Bone in south Sulawesi had to be concluded first. 285 Thus it was that fruitless 
negotiations continued while both sides busily prepared for war. 

In May 1906 the Dutch tried to precipitate events by extending its blockade to include 
Tabanan, but after one month it was clear that this was having no effect and the Dutch felt 
they were becoming a laughing stock. 286 Dutch intelligence reports had shown that neither 
Badung nor Tabanan had any great number of modern firearms and it was thought that a 
Dutch force would encounter no real difficulties in a military conflict with the two 
kingdoms.287 Thus, in a letter dated 17 July 1906, the two Rajas were delivered 
ultimatums demanding that they submit to the Dutch. Both Rajas replied that they had 
done nothing to break the 1849 contracts, but that the Dutch blockade was a clear 
violation of the treaties.288 The Dutch were probably less than amused, but the invasion 
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plans had already been drawn up and on 4 September 1906 Governor General van Heutz 
authorized the sending of an expedition to south Bali consisting of three battalions under 
the leadership of Major General M. B. Rost von Tonningen.289 

With a land force of around 3,000 men the Dutch set up headquarters near Sanur. Troops 
were sent to occupy Gianyar so as to prevent any assistance for Badung arriving from 
Klungkung or Bangli. At Sanur itself the local population offered no resistance to the 
Dutch forces, but on 15 September several thousand Balinese attacked the Dutch 
positions. The fighting lasted for many hours and victims fell on both sides, but the 
Balinese eventually retreated. At the same time the Dutch ships began bombarding the 
town of Denpasar, especially the palaces of Raja Denpasar and Raja Pamecutan.290 On 17 ,. 
and 18 September the bombardment of Denpasar continued, but on 19 September the 
Sanur headquarters was abandoned and the Netherlands Indies forces began moving 
towards Denpasar.291 The first big battle occurred at Tukad Ayung where the bravery of 
certain Balinese soldiers who refused to surrender their positions greatly impressed some 
Dutch observers.292 The Balinese were hopelessly out-gunned, however, possessing only a 
few rifles and a handful of ancient and ineffective cannons.293 The Dutch then pushed on 
to Kesiman where they met with strong resistance, but to their surprize when they 
reached the palace they found it deserted. Apparently the son of the late Raja had been 
murdered by a Brahmin priest after a dispute over whether or not to oppose the Dutch 
invaders.294 On 20 September the Dutch began their assault on Denpasar and were met 
with the by now familiar spirited, but ineffective resistance.295 

At around 11 a.m. a large group of Balinese, including many women and children, began 
marching towards the Dutch troops in Denpasar. Led by Raja Denpasar, the group of 
around 250 people consisted of the Raja's family and followers. They were dressed in 
their finest clothing with a white "selendang", or scarf, draped over their shoulders.296 The 
Raja was armed with a keris in each hand.297 Each member of the group carried a lance 
and/or keris. Many of the kerises were decorated with precious jewels. At a distance of 
300 metres the Dutch called on the group to stop, but with the Raja at their head the 
group increased their pace. At 100 metres the Dutch opened fire. The Raja was the first to 
fall. The wounded then killed themselves or were killed by others. As they were shot 
others then took up the task. As more Balinese arrived on the scene the slaughter 
continued until a mountain of corpses littered the street. Only a handful of the least 
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wounded survived the debacle.298 The Raja, his family and followers had just enacted a 
puputan. The term puputan comes from the Balinese word "puput" which means "end", 
thus puputan means ending.299 By refusing to surrender the Raja had maintained the 
honour of his office and his family. Death in the field of battle was believed to guarantee 
good fortune in the afterlife. By enacting a puputan, however, the Raja was 
acknowledging defeat. His life ended, his family's rule in Badung ended and the kingdom 
of Badung ended also. Dutch observers spoke highly of the honour and bravery of the 
Balinese who took part in the puputan,300 but the death of the Raja and his family cleared 
the way for the Dutch to establish their own rule in Badung with the minimum of 
resistance. 

The Dutch had still to subdue the other important Raja of Badung at that time : Raja 
Pamecutan. Raja Pamecutan was old and frail, but he too refused to surrender. After 
wiping up the last pockets of resistance near the palace in Denpasar the Dutch moved on 
to Pamecutan. The ancient cannons of the Pamecutan defenders were soon put out of 
action by the Dutch, and men, women and children armed with lances were cut down by 
the Dutch guns. The Raja and hundreds of his followers were later found dead near the 
palace. Dressed in their finest clothes, the whole group had apparently committed mass 
suicide.301 In his official report on the taking of Badung, Commissioner Liefrinck 
recorded that 400 Balinese had died in the fighting, while only four of the Dutch troops 
had been killed. From various other reports it is clear that at least 1,500 Balinese actually 
died in their futile attempt to beat off the Dutch invaders.302 

After their comprehensive victory at Badung the Dutch prepared to settle their account 
with Badung's ally, Tabanan. On 27 September the Dutch received advice that Raja 
Tabanan wished to enter into negotiations. The Dutch demanded an unconditional 
surrender to which the Raja agreed, but he soon discovered that the Dutch had already 
decided his fate and there were to be no negotiations. The Raja and his son, the Crown 
Prince, were taken to Denpasar were they were informed that they would be sent to live in 
exile on Lombok. This was a fate that neither were apparently willing to accept and on 
the night of 28 September the Raja and his son both committed suicide.303 Anak Agung, 
the Balinese politician turned historian, has characterized the capture of Raja Tabanan as 
comparable with the deceptive methods used by the Dutch to capture another famous 
rebellious Indonesian prince, Pangeran Diponegoro of Java.304 It certainly seems likely 
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that if Raja Tabanan realized that surrender to the Dutch meant exile outside of Bali he 
never would have surrendered. On the other hand, by capturing the Raja alive the Dutch 
probably prevented the deaths of hundreds or even thousands ofTabanan Balinese. 

In the meantime the kingdom of Tabanan was occupied by the Dutch without incident. 
The remaining important families of Badung and Tabanan were gathered together for 
exile to Lombok. Dutch forces then travelled through both kingdoms in a show of 
strength designed to demonstrate to the people the power of their new rulers.305 Badung 
and Tabanan were now clearly a part of the Netherlands Indies, but the expeditionary 
force's task was not over yet. As well as subjecting the two "rebellious" kingdoms the 
leagers of the expedition were also charged with signing new contracts with the 
remaining Rajas. The aim of the new treaties was to end once and for all any room for 
independent action on the part of the Rajas. Among other things the Rajas were being 
asked to obey all instructions of the Netherlands Indies government, to surrender all 
firearms within their kingdoms and to accept the permanent placement of Dutch troops on 
their soil. In effect the Rajas were being asked to hand over nearly all their powers to the 
Dutch. The Dutch warned the Rajas that if they did not sign the new treaties their 
kingdoms would also be invaded. Finally, on 17 October 1906 the last two independent 
Rajas of Bali, Raja Bangli and the Dewa Agung of Klungkung, came to Gianyar where 
they signed the new treaties.306 

It has been said that the last two independent Rajas were forced to sign the new treaties 
"at the point of a bayonet."307 This fairly dramatic statement is not far from the truth. The 
Rajas were threatened with invasion if they did not sign the treaties and while they 
pondered their response to the Dutch ultimatum Dutch warships went through their 
manoeuvres off the coast of Klungkung.308 Following the signing of the new treaties 
Dutch troops travelled through both kingdoms in a show of strength similar that recently 
concluded in Badung and Tabanan.309 The whole process must have been extremely 
humiliating for the two proud Rajas, but their only other choice was total destruction. The 
threatening tactics used by the Dutch to achieve the new contracts was in direct violation 
of the 1849 treaties and only goes to highlight the deceptive nature of the whole 
campaign. The Dutch military expedition to Bali had very little to do with the settling of 
the Sri Kumala affair, but it had much to do with growing Dutch demands for the end of 
"tyrannous" indigenous rule on Bali. 

The Dutch victories at Tabanan and Badung were somewhat overshadowed by the bloody 
circumstances under which they were achieved. The Dutch spoke of the slain Rajas in 
respectful tones and praised their honour and bravery. It would seem, however, that the 
Dutch actually did little or nothing to prevent the slaughter. The Dutch knew that a 
puputan was very possible. In 1849 the Dutch had expected the Rajas of Buleleng and 

305 Ibid. pp626-627 
306 Ibid. pp627-635 
307 Ibid. p628 
308 Ibid. p630 
309 Ibid. p637 
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Karangasem to enact a puputan after the fall of the Jagaraga fortress, but the two had 
already escaped. Raja Karangasem later died in a puputan while trying to defend his own 
palace. In the much more recent Lombok War a number of puputans were enacted. While 
several Dutch eyewitnesses to the bloody massacres in Bali were deeply shocked by what 
they saw it would seem that senior Dutch officials did nothing to stop it happening. As a 
result of the puputans the Dutch were able to take control of Badung and Tabanan with 
very little further opposition, but they suffered a great moral defeat. The Dutch had taken 
the high moral ground in their campaign against the Balinese Rajas, but the manner in 
which they brought "civilization" to Bali was a public relations nightmare. Accordingly 
the Dutch tried to divert attention away from the mangled bodies of men, women and 
chi}dren that resulted from the puputans and concentrated on the fanaticism (i.e., 
barbarism) of the Balinese defenders and the bravery with which they faced their 
destruction. 

******************************* 

The 1906 Dutch military expedition to Bali clearly brought all of Bali under the control 
of the Dutch, but the new administration was not accepted universally. In 1908 a new 
conflict arose when the Dutch announced a monopoly on the previously loosely regulated 
opium market. On 16 April a mob attacked a government opium store in Gelgel, 
Klungkung. In a Dutch counter-attack hundreds of Balinese -are said to have died. 
Cokorde Gelgel, who was behind the unrest, sought the protection of the Dewa Agung 
and on 28 April 1908 the Dutch prepared to attack the Klungkung palace where the 
Cokorde had been given refuge. As the Dutch approached the palace the Dewa Agung 
and around 200 of his followers emerged from within dressed in their finest clothes and 
carrying lances and kerises. It was another puputan. Again the Dutch appear to have done 
little to prevent the destruction and there was no real battle; men, women and children 
were simply mowed down by the Dutch guns. There were no Dutch casualties in the 
incident.310 In many ways the death of the Dewa Agung symbolized the end of the old 
way of life on Bali. The Rajas had been defeated and the way was open for the Dutch to 
institute their rule over the whole of Bali. 

Following the death of the Dewa Agung, Klungkung came under the direct rule of the 
Dutch. As the last of the independent Rajas, Raja Bangli quite rightly feared that he 
would be next to be forced to submit to the colonial power. So as to maintain at least 
some power and prestige the Raja decided to surrender to the Dutch soon after the 
Klungkung puputan. On 2 October 1908 Raja Bangli requested to be made a Stedehouder 
like the Rajas of Gianyar and Karangasem. The Dutch granted his wish and he was 

310 Ibid. pp647-650 
It would seem the Dutch expected the Raja to enact a puputan and it is claimed they requested the Raja to 
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Menentang Kolonialisme Belanda. ppl38-147 
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officially recognized in his new position on 18 January 1909.311 Following this change 
Bali was left with only three Rajas in any position of power; i.e., Rajas Bangli, Gianyar 
and Karangasem. These Rajas were little more than figure-heads, however, and were 
bound to obey the instructions of their Dutch masters. In the other previously independent 
kingdoms Dutch administrators ruled directly. 

311 Anak Agung Bali pada Abad XIX p653 
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EPILOGUE. THE WORLD GOES ON. 

The Dutch had come to Indonesia for the first time in 1596. In 1597 they made their first 
contact with Bali, but the island did not produce the spices that were then in such high 
demand in Europe. Without spices Bali was of little interest to the Dutch, or other 
Europeans, and throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries the island was 
largely ignored. The one "product" from Bali that did interest the Dutch was slaves, but 
the slave trade was in private hands and it was not considered necessary or prudent to 
annex the island to secure that trade. At the beginning of the nineteenth century the Dutch 
took more interest in Bali as a source of slaves who could serve as soldiers in the 
Netherlands Indies army. In 1808 Captain van der Wahl was sent to Bali to recruit 
soldiers and from 1826 to 1831 a Dutch recruitment office operated from the south 
Balinese port of Kuta. By this time the Dutch had become concerned by the possibility 
that some other European power might establish itself on Bali. This could have been a 
serious threat to the Dutch position in Indonesia as Bali was immediately adjacent to the 
Dutch stronghold on the island of Java. Of particular concern were the British, especially 
Raffles, who had served as Lieutenant Governor General of Java during the British 
interregnum from 1811 to 1816. In 1819 Raffles had established the free trade port of 
Singapore which was seen as a threat to the Dutch trading monopoly in the Indies. Raffles 
had visited Bali in 1815 and it was feared he still had an interest in the island. Dutch fears 
proved to be groundless, but their efforts to make agreements with the Balinese Rajas that 
would exclude other Europeans from a position of influence on the island were also 
unsuccessful. 

In the late 1830's Bali, and the neighbouring island of Lombok, were drawn into world 
trade by virtue of their ability to produce cheap rice at a time when food shortages were 
common in many parts of the world. Many Europeans had been attracted by the 
possibility of large profits, but of especial interest to Dutch were the activities of a British 
trader, George Pockock King. King was on very good terms with the Raja ofLombok and 
the Dutch feared his presence may trigger greater British involvement on the island. Once 
more the Dutch fear of the British proved to groundless, but it spurred them into new 
action to achieve treaties with the Balinese Rajas that would exclude any other European 
power from their kingdoms. Thus in 1841, 1842 and 1843 the special Commissioner for 
Bali and Lombok, H. J. Huskus Koopman travelled throughout Bali and Lombok and got 
all the Rajas to sign treaties which recognized the sovereignty of the Netherlands over 
their kingdoms. The treaties were gained by deception, however, as Huskus Koopman 
had fooled the Rajas into believing that the clause of the contract that established Dutch 
sovereignty was not to be taken literally and was a mere expression of friendship. He 
furthermore deceived the Rajas of Buleleng, Karangasem and Klungkung into believing 
that as a result of them signing the treaties the Dutch would assist them in their conflict 
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with the Raja of Lombok. As Huskus Koopman later signed a treaty with the Raja of 
Lombok this would be impossible. 

The Dutch at this time were still officially opposed to further territorial expansion. The 
main reason for this stand was that formal possession of territory was expensive and it 
was considered far more desirable to sign treaties with the Rajas that would bring about 
the same result, i.e., the exclusion of other foreign powers. The deceptive measures used 
by Huskus Koopman to achieve the 1841-1843 contracts was sure to lead to conflict, 
however, and in 1846 the Dutch became embroiled in a dispute over the issue of Tawan 
Karang with the Raja of Buleleng. The final result was war and after years of struggle the 
Qutch were victorious and Buleleng and its vassal state of Jembrana became part of the 
Netherlands Indies. Although the treaties had been achieved through deception the Dutch 
placed great importance on the documents and felt it was a great blow to their pride to 
have a native Raja openly defying their demands. Once the Dutch were securely 
ensconced in north Bali it was inevitable that they would be further drawn into the 
internal conflicts of the region. The closer the Dutch were involved the more likely it was 
that they would feel that their honour had been besmirched by some outspoken or 
recalcitrant Raja and the possibilities for conflict grew accordingly. The closer contact of 
the Dutch with the Balinese Rajas also increased the possibility of the Dutch officials 
losing their patience with the manner in which the Rajas ran their affairs. The almost 
constant warfare and intrigue in Bali in the second half of the nineteenth century must 
have exasperated the Dutch officials who were steeped in the values of "rust en 
orde"(peace and order). 

The Dutch in Bali apparently found it impossible to not get involved in the internal affairs 
of the Rajas and found themselves intervening in matters as varied as border disputes, 
mesatiye (widow burning), and the opium trade. Despite suggestions by officials on the 
ground that the Dutch should consider extending their control over the independent 
kingdoms of Bali and Lombok the decision makers in Batavia and the Hague held on to 
their prejudice against further territorial expansion. Such territorial expansion had taken 
place elsewhere in the Indies, however, and it seemed only a matter of time before the 
same fate befell Bali and Lombok as well. The outer islands of Indonesia had begun to be 
more attractive to investors in plantations and mineral exploitation. Partly because of the 
growing interest in these activities the Dutch began to give more attention to the island of 
Lombok which was said to be rich in minerals and very suitable for growing coffee, a 
major export crop of the day. In 1873 the Dutch had began a campaign against Aceh in 
north Sumatra, but as the war dragged on for decades the Dutch were reticent to become 
involved in any other disputes. At the same time the lack of success in Aceh was reason 
enough for some Dutch officials to seek a restitution of Dutch "honour" in some other 
area. Finally, an outbreak of warfare on Lombok was seen as an appropriate opportunity 
for the Dutch to restore some injured pride, to extend Dutch economic interests and to 
silence an independent Raja whose stubborn insistence on standing up for his rights as 
outlined in his treaty with the Dutch was seen as a great affront. In 1894 Lombok, and its 
vassal state of Karangasem in Bali, became a part of the Netherlands Indies. Throughout 
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their campaign in Lombok the Dutch highlighted the alleged abuses of power by the 
Lombok Raja to justify their declaration of war. 

The defeat of Lombok did a lot to remove Dutch fears of "a second Aceh" and the use of 
military power to rid the archipelago of "tyrannical" indigenous rulers was generally well 
received by the Dutch public. In 1900 the Dutch accepted a request by the Raja of 
Gianyar for his kingdom to be absorbed into the Netherlands Indies. The Raja had been 
fearful that his kingdom would be destroyed by his ambitious neighbours, especially the 
Dewa Agung of Klungkung. Several years beforehand the Dutch had refused a similar 
request, but by the beginning of the twentieth century they were no longer restrained by 
~n official policy against territorial expansion. In 1901 the Dutch officially embraced the 
Ethical Policy whereby they vowed to bring "peace, order and modernity" to the whole 
Indies and territorial expansion seemed the logical way to achieve these aims. By this 
time also the Industrial Revolution in Europe had given the Dutch a technological 
advantage over the indigenous peoples of the Indies that made it virtually impossible for 
them to resist. 

By the beginning of the twentieth century nearly all the powers of western Europe were 
involved in imperial ventures. Empire brought wealth, power, prestige and respect. The 
residents of the tiny European nation of the Netherlands were well aware of the benefits 
that had been brought to their nation through their possessions in the Indies. Under the 
Ethical Policy it became the duty of the Dutch in the Indies to promote "peace, order and 
modernity" and if territorial expansion was required to achieve these ends then so be it. 
While ethical concerns were considered acceptable reasons for military intervention in the 
independent states of Indonesia it is clear that such concerns were often used as mere 
excuses to justify Dutch expansion. In 1906 the issue of Tawan Karang again reared its 
head and the independent Balinese kingdoms of Badung and Tabanan were absorbed into 
the Netherlands Indies following an extremely bloody campaign which had began over a 
dispute concerning money allegedly stolen from a shipwrecked trading vessel. Dutch 
officials concerned with the case admitted that it had never been proven that the money 
had been stolen or that it even existed, but the Dutch had insisted that the owner be paid 
compensation by the Raja concerned. This the Raja refused to do as he considered that he 
had done no wrong. The Raja's refusal to accept the demands of his suzerain deeply 
angered many Dutch commentators, although under the terms of his treaty with the Dutch 
they had no right to make such demands. They increased their threats, but the Raja stuck 
to his principles and refused to submit. The price for his "insubordination" was a full­
scale invasion of his kingdom by the Dutch. True to his principles to the very end the 
Raja refused to surrender and he died in a mass suicide attack, or puputan, against the 
invading Dutch forces. 

With the annexation by the Dutch of Badung and Tabanan in 1906 only Bangli and 
Klungkung remained as independent kingdoms. Over the years the Dutch had whittled 
away the rights of the Rajas and had asked them to sign a number of supplementary 
contracts to prohibit certain activities, such as mesatiye (widow burning). Despite this the 
Dutch appear to have been extremely unhappy whenever a Raja presumed to exercise his 
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rights as outlined in the contracts. It was apparently for this reason that the Raja of 
Badung had refused to submit over the issue of compensation for the shipwrecked trading 
vessel as he was sure that if he submitted on that ocassion the Dutch would soon find 
some other issue to complain about. The Dutch could expect no financial benefit from 
Bali (as many had argued would accrue from possession of Lombok), but the Dutch seem 
to have been determined to crush the independent Rajas nevertheless. The main issue 
would appear to have been pride. The Dutch behaved as if every independent action of 
the Rajas was a great blow to their prestige, while the Rajas were determined to maintain 
as much independent power as possible. Finally, the two proud powers could no longer 
share control of the same small island and in 1908 more conflict erupted on Bali that 
s_learly left the Dutch in complete control. In that year the Dewa Agung of Klungkung 
died in a puputan after a dispute with the Dutch over regulation of the opium trade. 
Shortly after this bloody massacre, in which hundreds of Balinese were killed, the Raja of 
Bangli obviously decided that discretion was the greater part of valour and surrendered 
his kingdom to the Dutch without a fight. 

Following the death of the Dewa Agung and the capitulation of Raja Bangli the Dutch 
could be satisfied that their rule in Bali was now unassailable. After 311 years since the 
first contact between Dutch and Balinese, the Dutch supremacy could no longer be 
denied. The Dutch then set about to try and reshape Balinese society. Eventually they 
discovered that the Balinese were still faithful to their old rulers and from 1929 the royal 
houses were re-installed, although with very restricted powers.312 In this fashion some 
semblance of the old political order was maintained. Dutch rule did not last long, 
however, for in February 1942 a Japanese invasion force landed at Sanur. The Japanese 
then ruled Bali for the remainder of World War II. The Dutch returned to Bali after the 
war, but they were unable to fully reestablish their control and in 1950 Bali achieved full 
independence as part of the new Republic of Indonesia. Although the Dutch had ruled in 
northern Bali for over half a century before the fall of Klungkung, direct Dutch rule over 
all of Bali only lasted from 1908 to 1942: a period of just thirty-four years. 

312 Vickers op.cit. p137 
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